NO. 90351-4

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Issue No. 1: Whether the Court of Appeals' erred by "adoption" of a new overarching rule for legal application of the doctrine of "judgmental immunity" it called the "attorney judgment rule" which requires a factual analysis of the attorney's compliance with the standard of care in every case, and excludes from consideration review of "totality of the circumstances" to determine the question as a matter of law?

Issue No. 2: Whether the Court of Appeals erred in independently creating and adopting "inferences" from trial court declarations of the plaintiffs'/respondents' experts as a basis to overturn the trial court's grant of summary judgment to the defendants, while simultaneously specifically finding that those experts had failed to state such inferences, or, to state facts necessary to support such inferences?

Issue No. 3: Whether the Court of Appeals erred in failing to follow the holding of the Washington Supreme Court in *Halvorsen v. Ferguson*, 46 Wn. App. 708, 735 P.2d 675 (1986), which concluded that a difference of opinion between competing experts on the question of what is a proper litigation strategy does not, as a matter of law, impose liability on an attorney?

Issue No. 4: Whether Division II Erred in Failing to Consider and Resolve Evidence on Issues Relating to Proximate Cause, After It Specifically Requested Supplemental Briefing on the Issue?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case was initially filed in Clark County Superior Court in August 2009. [CP 295-302.] The complaint asserted claims for professional negligence. [CP 300-301.]

On September 6, 2011 respondents, plaintiffs below, moved for summary judgment dismissal of several of the attorney defendants' defenses, specifically including the Affirmative Defense of Judgmental Immunity.¹ [CP 313, et. seq.]

In the motion for summary judgment to dismiss the defendants' affirmative defense of judgmental immunity, respondents argued that the issue of judgmental immunity was to be considered by the trial court as "a matter of law." Plaintiffs' argument in their motion pleading was titled "Defendants' 'Judgmental Immunity' Affirmative Defense Fails as a Matter of Law." [CP 340, lines 17-18.]

The attorney defendants filed cross-motions for summary judgment on their legal defense, requesting that the trial court apply the legal doctrine of judgmental immunity and dismiss petitioner's claims relating to Mr. Matson and his firm's actions in the underlying litigation, including allegations addressing the attorneys' pre-trial settlement evaluation, and issues of pre-trial strategic and tactical handling of that case. [CP 346, et. seq.]

A hearing on the plaintiffs' motion and the defendants' crossmotions was initially held in the Clark County trial court on October 14,

¹The trial court motion for summary judgment also sought dismissal of defendants'/petitioners' defense against plaintiff American Alternative Insurance

Company ("AAIC") for lack of standing to bring a claim for legal malpractice against defendants/petitioners. AAIC was Clark County Fire District No. 5's liability insurer who had assigned the defendants/petitioners to defend the Fire District against the claims in the underlying action, which defense forms the basis of the legal malpractice claims in this series of cases.

2011.² [CP 691.]

On August 3, 2012 plaintiffs filed an additional pleading with the trial court styled as a "Response in Opposition to Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment." [CP 718, et. seq.] As part of that pleading, appellants filed declarations of additional, new attorney experts they had retained to provide opinions contrary to those of the defendants' experts.

In the revised version of their opposition to the issue of judgmental immunity plaintiffs changed their legal theory and advanced the proposition that the issue of judgmental immunity was to be determined as a "matter of fact", rather than as they had originally asserted, "as a matter of law."

On August 12, 2012, defendants filed a Reply to the plaintiffs' opposition pleading. The Reply cited extensive legal authority for the rule that courts resolving disputes on the issue of judgmental immunity will look to the "totality of the circumstances" to analyze whether, as a matter of law, a legal malpractice defendant has established the existence of the defense of judicial immunity. [CP 1215-1218.]

At the August 17, 2012 trial court hearing the court properly concluded that as evidenced in the record before it, the "totality of the

²Based on this hearing, the trial court granted the defendants' motion for summary judgment on the issue of insurer A.A.I.C.'s lack of standing, and dismissed A.A.I.C.'s complaint.

- 4 -

circumstances" established <u>as a matter of law</u> that Mr. Matson "did in fact make reasonable decisions" [RP 70, Appellants' Opening Brief, p. 17] and dictated that the doctrine of judgmental immunity be applied to dismiss the appellants' claims of legal malpractice based on the allegations relating to Mr. Matson's pre-trial settlement evaluation, pre-trial handing, tactics and strategies, and his decisions with respect to not objecting to the content of the underlying plaintiffs' counsel's closing argument.

On September 19, 2012 plaintiffs/respondents filed an appeal of the trial court decision in Division II of the Washington Court of Appeals on the issues relating to defendants' affirmative defense of judgmental immunity. Briefs were submitted, and oral arguments on the appeal were heard on January 16, 2014.

After oral argument, the Court of Appeals issued an order to the parties requiring supplemental briefing on the sole question of proximate cause. Both parties submitted their supplemental briefing on January 24, 2014. [Appendix 2, Appendix 3.]

On April 24, 2014, the Court of Appeals entered its ruling. [Appendix 1.]

V. <u>ARGUMENT</u>

A. The Criteria for this Court to Accept Review

Division II's opinion implicates the following provisions of RAP

13.4(b); the decision:

- (1) . . . is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court;
- (4) . . . involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.
- B. <u>Division II Erroneously Modified, and Improperly Applied, the Doctrine of "Judgmental Immunity" by Excluding Examination of the Totality of the Circumstances in Creating the "Attorney Judgment Rule"</u>

In their trial briefing and argument defendants cited the authorities identifying the standard for application of the doctrine of judgmental immunity as a review of "the totality of the circumstances," and also pointed to the authority that such a review would be conducted by the court as a matter of law.

In its opinion Division II said:

[Defendant] Matson is correct that under certain circumstances, whether an error in judgment constitutes a breach of duty can be decided as a matter of law. But *this is no different than in any other negligence case*, where a defendant can obtain summary judgment on the issue of breach of duty if reasonable minds could reach only one conclusion.

Clark County Fire Dist. No. 5 v. Bullivant Houser Bailey P.C., at 2014 WL 1647530 7-8 (emphasis added). [AP1-013].

The Court's statement is incorrect. The affirmative defense of Judgmental Immunity is in fact "different" from "any other negligence case." An affirmative defense has no meaning if the elements of the

defense do nothing more than serve to disprove the existence of the essential elements of plaintiff's claim, which the plaintiff must prove to sustain its *prime facie* case.

Division II's new "attorney judgment rule," which requires review of the factual evidence relating to the defendant attorney's compliance with the "standard of care" in <u>all</u> instances of the affirmative defense of judgmental immunity, is erroneous, and, indeed, illogical. Requiring universal application of the "attorney judgment" standard of care rule to all assertions in an affirmative defense of judgmental immunity negates the effectivity and viability of the defense by shifting the burden of proof of negligence from the plaintiff to the defendant. "Judgmental immunity" is an affirmative defense. There is no requirement in the law that a defendant plead an affirmative defense as a means of disproving an essential element of the plaintiffs' case, *e.g., Sprague v. Sumitomo Forestry Co., Ltd.* 104 Wn.2d 751, 757, 709 P.2d 1200 (1985) ("If notice of intent to resell is part of the [plaintiff's] *prima facie* case, then lack of such notice would not have to be affirmatively denied.").

If the doctrine of judgmental immunity rests exclusively on a requirement that the defendant affirmatively prove that it did not breach the essential element of "standard of care" in performing actions, the doctrine has no logical use, and becomes a mere vestige.

1. Examination of the "Totality of Circumstances" is an Appropriate Standard for the Court in Determining the Application of the Doctrine of Judgmental Immunity as a Matter of Law

While questions of professional negligence may be generally "left to the trier of fact," there is a recognized exception to this rule. When the "totality of circumstances" demonstrate that a conclusion may be reached that negligence has not been established, judgment may be entered as a matter of law. *Bergstrom v. Noah*, 266 Kan. 847, 875, 974 P.2d 531, 554 (Kan., 1999).

2. Adoption of the "Attorney Judgment Rule" Presents an Issue of "Substantial Public Interest" Justifying Review by the Supreme Court

In and of itself, the Court of Appeals' new "attorney judgment rule" creates an "issue of substantial public interest." The new rule has the potential to affect every legal malpractice case in Washington where challenges to an attorney's proper "handling" of a case, or the "tactics and strategies" employed are at issue. The effective change of the doctrine of judgmental immunity into nothing more than a separate analysis of the defendants' attorney's compliance with the "standard of care" can shift the plaintiffs' burden to the defendant, invite unnecessary litigation, and create confusion generally. As such, the Court of Appeals' decision is appropriate for review in the Supreme Court. *See*, *State v. Watson*, 155 Wn.2d 574, 577, 122 P.3d 903 (2005).

C. Division II Erred by Independently Creating, and then Adopting, "Inferences" from Declarations of the Plaintiffs'/
Respondents' Experts to Overturn the Trial Court Summary
Judgment in Favor of the Defendants, While Simultaneously
Specifically Finding That Those Experts Had Failed to State
Such Inferences, or, to State Facts Necessary to Support Such
Inferences

In applying its new "attorney judgment rule" to the issue the Court of Appeals independently and improperly created, and then adopted, "inferences" from testimony of respondents'/plaintiffs' opposing the motion below, which testimony the court itself acknowledged did not state evidentiary facts which could form the basis of such inferences.

Initially, Division II correctly stated:

Merely providing an expert opinion that the judgment decision was erroneous or that the attorney should have made a different decision is not enough; the expert must do more than simply disagree with the attorney's decision. Halvorsen, 46 Wn. App. at 715–16, 718, 735 P.2d 675 (expert statements that they would have conducted litigation differently cannot as a matter of law support a legal negligence action). The plaintiff must submit evidence that no reasonable Washington attorney would have made the same decision as the defendant attorney. See Cook, 73 Wash.2d at 396, 438 P.2d 865 (attorney not liable for a judgment decision, even though it might not meet with unanimous approval).

Clark County Fire Dist. No. 5 v. Bullivant Houser Bailey P.C., at 2014 WL 1647530 8 [AP1-013].

Then, the Court of Appeals inconsistently acknowledged that:

None of the [respondents'/plaintiffs'] experts specifically stated that the amount of Matson's evaluation was not

within the range of reasonable alternatives under the facts of this case or that no reasonable attorney would have made the same settlement evaluation. In fact, none of them gave an opinion regarding what they believed was the correct settlement range. Under *Halvorsen*, the mere statements of experts that a judgment decision is erroneous or that they would have evaluated the case differently are not enough to maintain an attorney negligence claim. 46 Wash.App. at 718, 735 P.2d 675. However, it can be inferred that the experts believed that no reasonably prudent attorney would have agreed with Matson's evaluation based on their opinions that Matson breached the standard of care.

Clark County Fire Dist. No. 5 v. Bullivant Houser Bailey P.C., at 2014 WL 1647530 10 [AP1-015] (emphasis added).

Thus, even though it specifically acknowledged the absence of supporting evidentiary facts in the record, ignoring proper analysis, the Court of Appeals independently discovered, on its own, "inferences" from "facts" that the plaintiffs' experts' testimony did not address. Only on the basis of these self-manufactured "inferences" did Division II overturn the trial court's summary judgment in favor of the defendants on the questions relating to defendants' pre-trial settlement evaluation, and a series of defendants' pre-trial strategic and tactical litigation decisions.

1. <u>Under Washington Law, Bare Speculation by a Party's Experts Is Not Sufficient to Create "Inferences" which Validly Require Denial of Motions for Summary Judgment</u>

Black's Law Dictionary defines an "inference" as follows: "In the law of evidence.... a process of reasoning by which a fact or proposition

sought to be established is deduced as a logical consequence from other facts, or a state of facts, already proved or admitted." *Black's Law Dictionary* (9th ed. 2009).

An "inference" cannot be based on speculation, which is not fact. While an expert giving testimony may in some cases state opinions which are inferences, even in a *de novo* review of a motion for summary judgment, an appellate court is not entitled to independently create "inferences" to deny the motion, in the absence of facts. It is even more impermissible for any court to declare the existence of an inference where, such as in Division II's opinion, the court specifically acknowledges that no facts exist in the evidence to support such "inferences."

"[T]he legal definition of 'inference' ... is not interchangeable with 'assumption' or 'speculation.'" *State v. Jeffries*, 105 Wn.2d 398, 442, 717 P.2d 722 (1986). Inferences can only be drawn from facts. In the absence of any facts to support mere opinions, such opinions are "conclusory"; they constitute "speculation." The court may not accept such opinions as evidence or base rulings on such fact-barren statements.

A non-moving party attempting to resist a summary judgment may not rely on speculation, argumentative assertions that unresolved factual matters remain, for upon the submission by the moving party of adequate affidavits. "The non-moving party must set forth specific facts that sufficiently rebut the moving party's contentions and disclose that a genuine issue as to a material fact exists." *Halvorsen v. Ferguson*, 46 Wn. App. 708, 721-722, 735 P.2d 675 (1986).

"Evidence that merely 'bolsters' an 'inference' that a defendant 'might' have acted [in a specific manner] simply does not rise to the level of proof this court has heretofore demanded. Such evidence does no more than pyramid inference upon inference." *Herron v. KING Broadcasting Co.*, 112 Wn.2d 762, 792, 776 P.2d 98 (1989) (emphasis added).

2. No Valid Evidence Supporting Experts' Challenge To Defendants' Pre-Trial Settlement Evaluation

The Court of Appeals also specifically acknowledged that the plaintiffs' experts' testimony in the record *did not* offer facts which established any reasonable alternative litigation choices available to the defendants. The court said:

None of the experts specifically stated that the amount of Matson's evaluation was not within the range of reasonable alternatives under the facts of this case or that no reasonable attorney would have made the same settlement evaluation. In fact, none of them gave an opinion regarding what they believed was the correct settlement range. Under *Halvorsen*, the mere statements of experts that a judgment decision is erroneous or that they would have evaluated the case differently are not enough to maintain an attorney negligence claim. 46 Wash.App. at 718, 735 P.2d 675.

Clark County Fire Dist. No. 5 v. Bullivant Houser Bailey P.C., at 2014 WL 1647530 7-8 (emphasis added). [Id.]

Thus, any "opinion," "conclusion" or other comment by any of plaintiffs' experts that the defendants did not meet the standard of care with respect to their pre-trial settlement analysis lacks <u>any factual</u> basis and is wholly, completely, and undisputedly based on the utter speculation by such witnesses.

Where "inferences" are drawn from speculation by experts instead of from actual facts in evidence, refuse to consider such testimony is mandated.

The "non-moving party ... may not rely on speculation or argumentative assertions that unresolved factual issues remain." *Marshall v. Bally's PacWest, Inc.*, 94 Wn. App. 372, 377, 972 P.2d 475 (1999). Applying this basic rule, the Court of Appeals was in error when it independently created inferences that were not based on facts provided in the evidence by the plaintiffs' testifying experts, or, directly stated by the plaintiffs' experts.

3. No Valid Evidence Supporting "Inferences" Challenging Defendants' Strategic and Tactical Pre Trial Handling of the Litigation

The Court of Appeals also erroneously self-manufactured "inferences" in the plaintiffs' experts' trial declarations regarding the contested issues set out under the topic of "Pre-Trial Handling." Division II said:

The Fire District argues that Matson was negligent in the handling of the case before trial in multiple respects. In its appellate briefing, the Fire District references the following alleged deficiencies: (1) adopting a strategy that assumed the jury would view James's conduct as light-hearted banter and blamed Collins for James's conduct; (2) failing to provide a settlement evaluation earlier in the case; (3) failing to pursue early settlement/mediation; (4) failing to make individual settlement offers to the different plaintiffs; (5) failing to consult with other attorneys in his firm who were more experienced; (6) failing to arrange for a mock trial or consult with a jury consultant; (7) failing to file a motion to bifurcate; (8) failing to file dispositive motions, particularly on Collins's claim; and (9) failing to file an offer of judgment. [FN omitted] . . .

All of Matson's alleged deficiencies listed above related to *pre-trial tactics and strategy* and involved the exercise of professional judgment. Accordingly, the attorney judgment rule applies."

Clark County Fire Dist. No. 5 v. Bullivant Houser Bailey P.C., at 2014 WL 1647530 10-11 [AP1-015, 016] (emphasis added).

The court improperly applied the "attorney judgment" standard of care rule, instead of the "totality of the circumstances" to legally analyze the defendants' actions which even it recognized constituted "pre-trial tactics and strategies."

Again, the record reveals that there was no <u>factual</u> evidence presented by the respondents' retained experts that the defendants' conduct was negligent. The testimony presented was merely that the various experts' expressed conclusory personal dissatisfaction in what Mr. Matson did in litigating the underlying case.

"[A]n expert must base his or her opinion on standards accepted by the legal community and not merely on the expert's personally held views." *Carbis Sales, Inc. v. Eisenberg*, 397 N.J.Super. 64, 79 (App. Div. 2007). In Washington, it is "necessary that an expert's opinion on the standard of care be based on general professional standards, rather than mere personal opinion." *Leaverton v. Cascade Surgical Partners*, *P.L.L.C.*, 160 Wn. App. 512, 520, 248 P.3d 136 (2011).

The Court of Appeals should have recognized the fact that in their declarations plaintiff's experts offered no evidential support establishing the existence of any particular standard of care relating to any of the plaintiffs' hindsight laundry list of contested issues of defendants' "pretrial handling" of the litigation, other than standards that were merely personal to the experts themselves.

A client's mere "dissatisfaction with strategic choices," as a matter of law, cannot serve as the proper basis for a legal malpractice claim. Bernstein v. Oppenheim & Co., P.C., 160 A.D.2d 428, 431, 554 N.Y.S.2d 487, 490 (1990).

Further, as litigation strategies and tactics, each of the actions described above are subject to application of the judgmental immunity doctrine – as a matter of law, <u>separate and apart</u> from the Court of Appeals' "attorney judgment rule."

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