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

### IV. ARGUMENT

#### A. The Lower Court Dismissals of AAIC's Claim Were Proper

Division II of the Washington Court of Appeals, as the trial court before it, fully considered the extensive arguments brought by plaintiff/ petitioner American Alternative Insurance Co. ("AAIC") on the question of its lack of standing to pursue a claim for legal malpractice against the defendant/respondent attorneys in this case.

Both the Court of Appeals, as the trial court before it, dismissed AAIC's complaint for legal malpractice holding, as a matter of law, that in Washington, an attorney representing an insured defendant has no legal duty relating to legal services, to the insurance carrier who assigns that attorney to defend its insured as required by the terms of its insurance contract with the insured defendant.

The Court of Appeals dismissed the complaint in recognition of and in compliance with with the clear governing law recently established by this Court in *Stewart Title Guar. Co. v. Sterling Sav. Bank* 178 Wn.2d

561, 311 P.3d 1 (2013).

Having unsuccessfully argued its positions twice below, the petitioner now urges this Court to ignore those determinations and conduct a third review of the matter, on the erroneous grounds that the lower court rulings implicate provisions of RAP 13.4, which establishes the criteria for Washington Supreme Court review.

### B. Petitioner Does Not Establish That the Provisions of RAP 13 Which Establish the Basis for Supreme Court Review Are Satisfied, and the Petition Must Be Denied

Petitioners erroneously contend that the Court of Appeals ruling upholding the trial court dismissal on the basis of this Courts' unambiguous rule articulated in *Stewart Title*, satisfy the following provisions of RAP 13.4(b) in that the decision:

- (1) . . . is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court (specifically *Stewart Title, supra,* and *Trask v. Butler,* 123 Wash.2d 835, 872 P.2d 1080 (1994));
- (4) . . . involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court (but nothing that has not been previously disposed of by the holding in *Stewart Title*).

Neither of those elements, which are required to establish grounds for such discretionary review, are established by the Petition. Petitioner's continued dissatisfaction with the Trial Court and Court of Appeals' resolutions of the case does not qualify the case for discretionary review under RAP 13.4(b).

C. The Court of Appeals Decision Based on the Rule Recently
Established by This Court in Stewart Title v. Sterling Savings
Bank Does Not Conflict with That Decision, the Decision in
Trask v. Butler, or Any Other Washington Supreme Court
Case

Petitioner's contention that Division Two's ruling is in conflict with this Court's decision in either *Stewart Title v. Sterling Bank* or *Trask v. Butler* is demonstrably erroneous, if only by a simple reading of the *Stewart Title* opinion.

In *Stewart Title*, this Court determined that the "tri-partite" relationship between insurance carrier, insured and counsel assigned by the carrier to defend the insured from a third-party claim, is fundamentally legally incompatible with the existence of legal duty on the part of the assigned defense attorney to the "non-client" insurer necessary to support a claim for legal malpractice by the carrier against the attorney. This Court held that "[t]he fact that an insurer's and insured's interests happen to align in some respects—though perhaps not in all respects ... — does not by itself show that the attorney or client intended the insurer to benefit from the attorney's representation of the insured." *Stewart Title Guar. Co. v. Sterling Sav. Bank*, at 178 Wn.2d 567.

The petitioner re-argues its positions that were rejected by the lower courts in this case on a number of issues related to the analysis of whether a "non-client" can claim that a lawyer who does not represent it,

owes it a legal duty to the "non-client" so as to support a claim for malpractice based on the legal services performed. These issues include: the status of a carrier as a claimed "beneficiary" of an assigned defense counsel's legal services provided to its actual client, the insured; a misdirected argument that if the insurer in the tri-partite relationship has no right to sue the assigned defense counsel for acts involved in the attorney's representation of the insured there exists no "remedy"; and, disingenuously, that forcing an attorney who is representing an insured while simultaneously responsible to the insured's carrier under a separate legal duty, to weave through the resultant minefield of potential, or actual, conflicts of interest, "does not burden the profession."

Petitioner's arguments ignore the principal foundation of this Court's resolution of the same issues in *Stewart Title* and are, in effect, nothing more than red herrings designed only to expand the focus of the Court's review here beyond its superseding precedential ruling in *Stewart Title*.

The lower court rulings in this case, and the decision in *Stewart*Title are all consistent with the axiomatic rule affecting the tri-partite relationship expressed by this Court many years ago, that in providing a defense to its insured an insurer holds a separate legal obligation of good faith which prohibits it from placing its own interests – whatever the

nature – above the interests of the insured. *Tank v. State Farm Fire & Cas. Co.* 105 Wn.2d 381, 387-88, 715 P.2d 1133 (1986).

In *Stewart Title*, this Court specifically examined the fundamental aspects of the "tri-partite" relationship in the context of its prior decision in *Trask v. Butler* which articulated a test for determining the existence of a lawyer's duty to a non-client. *Trask v. Butler*, 123 Wn.2d at 842-843.

The first of the six *Trask* factors is the most significant and represents the "threshold" inquiry; if the attorney's representation was not specifically intended to benefit the non-clients, or if any "benefit" derived by the non-client was merely "incidental" in nature, the non-client has no legal standing to sue the attorney for malpractice based on his representation of actual client. *Leipham v. Adams*, 77 Wn. App. 827, 832, 894 P.2d 576 (1995) (citing *Trask*, at 123 Wn.2d 842-43).

In Stewart Title, the court said:

[In *Trask*] we explained that the first factor is the "primary inquiry" in determining an attorney's liability to third parties. [citation omitted]. We further explained that "under the modified multi-factor balancing test, the threshold question is whether the plaintiff is an intended beneficiary of the transaction to which the advice pertained" and that "no further inquiry need be made unless such an intent exists." [123 Wn. 2d] at 843, 872 P.2d 1080."

Stewart Title Guar. Co. v. Sterling Sav. Bank at 178 Wn.2d 566.

The *Stewart Title* court specifically concluded that an insurer could <u>not</u> be held to be the "intended beneficiary" of legal services provided by the counsel the insurer assigned to defend its own insured, if only because to do so would violate "the settled rule of law" as articulated in the Washington Rules of Professional Responsibility (hereinafter "RPC"), that, "A lawyer shall not permit a person who recommends, employs, or pays the lawyer to render legal services for another to direct or regulate the lawyer's professional judgment in rendering such legal services." *Id.* at 178 Wn.2d 568 [citing RPC 5.4(c)]

There is nothing new, novel or groundbreaking in the facts of this case which separates it from, or places it in conflict with the prior holdings of this Court in either *Stewart Title*, or *Trask v. Butler*. Distilled to its meaningful content, Petitioner's argument here is based on the single idea that because AAIC did not issue a "reservation of rights" to its insured Clark County Fire District No. 5, the interests of AAIC and its insured were purportedly so "aligned," that there must be no conflict of interest to a lawyer representing both the insured and the insurer which would necessarily preclude a finding under *Trask* that the insurer is an "intended beneficiary". Thus, petitioner blithely rejects the specific contrary holding by the *Stewart Title* court which categorically rejected the same argument.

"The alignment of interests is <u>insufficient to find a duty</u> running from [the assigned defense attorney] to [the non-client insurer] for purposes of a malpractice claim. [The non-client] argues, ... that as long as there is no actual conflict of interest between an insurer and its insured, a non-client insurer is presumed to be an intended beneficiary and "can bring a claim for malpractice" against its insured's attorney. [Appellate citation omitted] Under [the non-client insurer's] analysis, unless there is an actual and demonstrable conflict of interest, an insurer may always sue its insured's attorney for malpractice under *Trask*.

### We reject that analysis."

Stewart Title Guar. Co. v. Sterling Sav. Bank, 178 Wn.2d 561 at 567 (emphasis added).

The salient facts of this case are no different than the principal facts forming the basis of this Court's decision in *Stewart Title*, which in and of itself, incorporated an analysis of *Trask v. Butler* as applied to the fundamental relationships and policies affecting the "tri-partite" relationship.

# D. <u>Stewart Title Correctly Determined That the Tri-Partite Relationship Precludes the Insurer as an "Intended Beneficiary" of the Defense Counsel's Representation of Its Client, the Insured</u>

Stewart Title established that the fundamental relationships between an insurer, its insured, and, counsel assigned to defend the insured are inimical to the creation of a duty by the attorney to the insurer. Petitioner's attempt to create some unique factual relationship here between insurer AAIC and respondents in their role as defense counsel for

insured Clark County Fire District No. 5 completely ignore the decision of this Court in *Stewart Title* that because of the inherent conflicting interests in the relationship, such factual distinctions are irrelevant to the question of the existence of duty.

In making its decision, the Court of Appeals noted that AAIC is an insurer, that AAIC insured a party who was the object of a liability claim, and that respondents were assigned by AAIC to represent the insured as its client – the Court of Appeals acknowledged the existence of the classic "tri-partite" relationship. The Court of Appeals then read the clear holdings of this Court in *Stewart Title* and applied its rule of Washington law that the tri-partite relationship inherently precludes the idea that the carrier is an "intended beneficiary" of the attorneys' representation of the insured (even where there the carrier did not issue a "reservation of rights" to dispute coverage).

## E. Petitioner's Argument Asserting That the Stewart Title Rule Creates an "Empty Remedy" Is Invalid, Illogical and Does Not Govern This Court's Determination Whether to Grant This Petition

Finally, AAIC argues is that this Court should accept review because the Court of Appeals' decision is wrong because it supposedly allows a situation where there is a "right" with no "remedy". This argument is mis-directional at best. First, in lamenting that if the

insurance carrier is unable to "cash in" by not being entitled under existing law to sue the lawyer it appointed to defend its insured, the petitioner again <u>pre-supposes</u> that the carrier is legally <u>entitled</u> to a recovery from any third party for its contractually required performance under the insurance contract. This disingenuously puts "the cart before the horse."

The *Stewart Title* rule conclusively decides the issue of whether the insurer has a "right" against the assigned defense attorney to claim a breach of a representational duty, in the negative. This lack of any legal "right" against the defense attorney is the basis of petitioner's true aggravation. AAIC apparently made a poor risk-analysis decision in insuring Clark County Fire District No. 5, the result of which was that it had to make indemnity payments to the underlying plaintiffs because of that decision. Now AAIC wants someone else to pay for its mistaken risk analysis.

To the extent it has any merit, petitioner's theory is founded on the idea that a "remedy" is for the purpose of making an injured party whole. The fact is, if there was any professional negligence, respondents' client, Clark County Fire District No. 5, <u>is</u> whole. It is whole because of its foresight in making a contractual agreement with AAIC to be made whole and the fact that it can bring a claim for malpractice against its lawyers.

Petitioner's breathless argument that the lawyers "will receive a windfall" unless the carrier is allowed to attempt to recover its contractually agreed indemnity payments paid on behalf of its insured, from a third party, is a misconstruction of reality. The attorney recovers nothing if a carrier is obligated to perform its separate contractual responsibilities on behalf of its insured. The attorney is not a "winner" and perhaps more fundamentally, the insurer is not a "loser" – at least in the sense that petitioner asserts.

If the carrier were allowed to bring a claim against the defense counsel to recover monies it paid due to its separate contractual obligations to the insured, any "windfall" goes to AAIC. AAIC simply wants a source to replace the "loss" which they had willingly previously contracted to lose. Paying for the liabilities incurred by their insured is what AAIC contracted to do. "It must not be forgotten that the purpose of insurance is to insure...." *Phil Schroeder, Inc. v. Royal Globe Ins. Co.*, 99 Wn.2d 65, 69, 659 P.2d 509 (1983).

The simple fact that this appeal is being made in an effort to create new law demonstrates that AAIC knew at the time it issued an insurance policy to Clark County Fire District No. 5 that in Washington, there was no prospective remedy against its insured's attorneys to recoup its

payments of settlements or judgments made to satisfy its contractual obligations to indemnify Clark County for its liabilities.

The law in Washington has never been that the insurance defense carrier has the standing to recover in malpractice from the assigned attorney. As a sophisticated commercial entity, AAIC knew or should have known that it had no legal standing to recover any monies paid on behalf of their insured to a third party due to an adverse judgment.

Petitioner has inverted the issue of "rights and remedies." A tort plaintiff is entitled to compensation based only on the defendant's tortious act. Where there is no duty there is no tort. Where there is no tort there is no right to compensation. Petitioner's talk of an "empty" remedy ignores the reality that the lawyer's actual client (as opposed to the third party to which the attorney has no legal duty) does have a right to pursue his counsel for the sum of money that will put himself in the position but for the defendant's tortious act.

AAIC has not suffered compensable damage because of anything the respondents did or did not do. In paying for Clark County Fire District No. 5's liabilities AAIC is simply "losing" what it contracted to lose. In the end, this case is focused solely on the idea of an insurance company trying to relieve itself from its own faulty risk analysis. In considering "equities" here, it should be fully noted that AAIC's insured, Clark

County Fire District No. 5, was the bad actor. It was their conduct which led to the claims against them. Despite the fact that Clark County Fire District No. 5 was the bad actor, it has been made whole.

Plaintiffs' citation to the Arizona decision of *Paradyme Ins. Co. v. Langerman Law Offices*, 200 Ariz. 146, 24 P.3d 593 (Ariz. 2001) on the issue of a "lack of remedy" is problematical and irrelevant – that case is from a jurisdiction which holds that defense counsel does have a duty to its assigning carrier, and further, that duty is based on an analysis entirely different from *Trask*.

Petitioner's legal citations arguing that the *Stewart Title* rule leaves the carrier "an empty remedy" are misleading and inapplicable. The citation to *Stangland v. Brock*, 109 Wn.2d at 681 [Petition, p. 14] takes that court's discussion concerning "third-party beneficiary" theories of duty applied in other states, and uses it to inaccurately imply that the *Stangland* court was articulating the petitioner's argument. *Stangland* recognized that not every duty will provide a basis for compensation. "... even if a duty is owed, the law will give it recognition and effect only as it is defined by a particular standard of conduct." *Stangland v. Brock*, 109 Wn.2d 675, 682, 747 P.2d 464, 468 (1987).

The Texas case cited by petitioner, *American Centennial Ins. Co.* v. Canal Ins. Co., 843 S.W.2d 480 (Tex., 1992), does not validate the

petitioner's argument. The Texas case involves issues of contractual relations and issues of equitable subrogation between excess insurers who each have similar obligations to the insured, issues specifically not applicable here. See, *Stewart Title v. Sterling Sav. Bank*, 178 Wn.2d at 570, fn. 4.

### F. Petitioner's Assertion of "Public interest" Appears to Be Based on Circumstances That Are Not Entirely Independent to Petitioner's Claim

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